1990

Meadow Fresh Farms, Inc. v. Utah State University
Department of Agriculture and Applied
Science Von T. Mendenhall. Archie Hurst, Claudia
Clark, Nancy G. Robinette, Barbara Prater and
John/Jane Does 1 through 20 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

Jurisdiction

Jurisdiction was conferred on the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to a transfer of the case by the Utah Supreme Court on July 31, 1990, pursuant to Rule 42(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Nature of Proceedings

Meadow Fresh Farms initiated this action against the defendants for breach of contract, for defamation, and for interference with business relations. The trial court on its own motion under Rule 4-103 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration gave notice of an order to the show cause to Meadow Fresh's former counsel, who had resigned from private practice to take a seat on the bench and his former firm failed to give notice to Meadow Fresh Farms of the order to show cause hearing date. Meadow Fresh Farms failed to appear at the hearing, and the trial court dismissed its complaint without prejudice. Upon learning of the dismissal order, within a few weeks Meadow Fresh appeared through new counsel and filed a motion to set aside the order of dismissal. Upon denial of Meadow Fresh's motion to set aside, this appeal was filed.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. The issue on appeal is whether the trial court abused its discretion in failing to set aside a dismissal entered sua sponte under Rule 4-103 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration under the facts of this case where the dismissal was entered after sending notice of the hearing to Meadow Fresh's former counsel who had previously withdrawn to take the bench.

2. Is the Lower Court's Rule 4-103 dismissal without prejudice effectively a dismissal with prejudice precluding plaintiff from pursuing its causes of action under Utah Code Annotated Section 78-12-40 where a prior similar dismissal without prejudice for failure to prosecute has occurred.

DISPOSITIVE STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

1. Utah Rules of Judicial Administration, Rule 4-103.

Rule 4-103. Civil Calendar Management.

(1) If a default judgement has not been entered by the plaintiff within 60 days of the availability of default and absent a showing of good cause, the court shall dismiss the case without prejudice for lack of prosecution.

(2) If a certificate of readiness for trial has not been served and filed within 180 days of the filing date and absent a showing of good cause, the court shall dismiss the case without prejudice for lack of prosecution.

(Amended effective January 15, 1990).

2. Section 78-12-40 Utah Code Annotated

78-12-40. Effect of failure of action not on merits.

If any action is commenced within due time and a judgement thereon for the plaintiff is reversed, or if the plaintiff fails in such action or upon a cause of action otherwise than upon the merits, and the time limited either by law or contract for commencing the same shall have expired, the plaintiff, or if he dies and the cause of action survives, his representatives, may commence a new action within one year after the reversal or failure.

3. Amendment XIV, Section I of the Constitution of the United States.

Section 1.

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

4. Article I, Section 7 of the Constitution of Utah

Sec. 7 [Due process of law.]

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

5. Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

Rule 5. Service and filing of pleadings and other papers.

(b) Service: How made.

(1) Whenever under these rules service is required or permitted to be made upon a party represented by an attorney the service shall be made upon the attorney unless service upon the party himself is

ordered by the court. Service upon the attorney or upon a party shall be made by delivering a copy to him or by mailing it to him at his known address or, if no address is known, by leaving it with the clerk of the court. Delivery of a copy within this rule means: Handing it to the attorney or to the party; or leaving it at his office with his clerk or other person in charge thereof; or, if there is no one in charge, leaving it in a conspicuous place therein; or, if the office is closed or the person to be served has no office, leaving it at his dwelling house or usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein. Service by mail is complete upon mailing.

6. Rule 41(a)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

Rule 41. Dismissal of Actions

(a) Voluntary Dismissal: effect thereof

(1) By plaintiff; by stipulation. Subject to the provisions of Rule 23(e), of Rule 66, and of any applicable statute, an action may be dismissed by the plaintiff without order of court (i) by filing a notice of dismissal at any time before service by the adverse party of an answer or of a motion for summary judgment, or (ii) by filing a stipulation of dismissal signed by all parties who have appeared in the action. Unless otherwise stated in the notice of dismissal or stipulation, the dismissal is without prejudice, except that a notice of dismissal operates as an adjudication upon the merits when filed by a plaintiff who has once dismissed in any court of the United States or of any state an action based on or including the same claim.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case and Facts

The events which precipitated the complaints of the Meadow Fresh Farms first occurred in May, June, and September of 1981 (TR 002). Specifically, Utah State University and the Utah State Department of Agriculture improperly and negligently conducted tests to evaluate the nutritional value of the Meadow Fresh imitation lowfat dry milk. The test samples were improperly reconstituted with an insufficient amount of liquid, which caused the test samples to be overly concentrated. As a result of this over-concentration, the test analysis improperly showed the Meadow Fresh product to contain more calories, sugar, and sodium than it actually

contained. Utah State University and the Utah State Department of Agriculture and the Utah State Department of Health then published various written false and inaccurate statements and news releases that Meadow Fresh's imitation lowfat dry milk lacked nutritional value and posed a "health risk". These publications by a State University were immediately picked up by the dairy lobby trade journals and have been used to discredit Meadow Fresh's lowfat dry milk product, causing Meadow Fresh to continually re-test their product before each out-of-state food regulatory agency wherein it wants to sell. As a consequence over twenty four major tests have been made all approving the product, and not one agency has been able to duplicate Utah State University and the Utah State Department of Agriculture's tests. Notwithstanding this test data, Utah State University and the Utah State Department of Agriculture refuse to withdraw their test conclusions or re-test the product, and continually re-publish and affirm their earlier studies concerning the Meadow Fresh product whenever inquiries from outside agencies and the public are received.

Course of the Proceedings

On or about July 19, 1982, the plaintiff filed an Administrative Claim for Damages with the Utah State Department of Health, the Utah State University and the Utah Attorney General pursuant to requirements of Utah Code Annotated Section 63-30-12.

This action was initially filed in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, Utah on April 25, 1983, as Civil No. 833163 (TR 330).

On September 27, 1985, Judge Daniels dismissed the plaintiff's Complaint for failure to prosecute pursuant to an Order to Show Cause. This Order was affirmed by the Utah Supreme Court on May 29, 1987, and leave was given to re-file the action within one year under Sec.

78-12-40, U.C.A., 1953, as amended (TR 261).

On January 12, 1988, plaintiff filed a second action alleging the same causes of action against the same defendants in Civil No.8800171 filed in the Third Judicial District of Salt Lake County, State of Utah (TR 002).

Meadow Fresh Farm's counsel B.H. Harris was appointed to sit on the First Circuit Court and withdrew as counsel on December 14, 1988 (TR 163). Plaintiff believed Mr. Harris' law office was still continuing to represent him (TR 184). The law office believed the withdrawal of counsel applied to the entire office (TR 169).

On December 5, 1989, Judge Frederick issued an Order to Show Cause pursuant to Rules 4-103 of the Rules of Judicial Administration and mailed a copy to appellant's former counsel Harris and Preston (TR 165), who failed to appear at the hearing. An Order of Dismissal without prejudice was entered on January 18, 1990 (TR 180).

Disposition at Trial Court

Upon learning of the Dismissal, Meadow Fresh Farms retained new counsel and a Motion to Set Aside the Dismissal was filed (TR 189). This motion was denied by Judge Frederick on May 22, 1990 (TR 481). A Notice of Appeal of this denial was filed with the Third District Court on June 6, 1990 (TR 483).

Plaintiff's third Complaint again alleging the same causes of action against the same parties was then filed with the Third District Court on May 22, 1990, Civil No. 900902988CV (Addendum). Government defendants/Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss based on the Statute of Limitations; arguing that the savings statute, Sec. 72-12-40, U.C.A., 1953, as amended, allows only one re-filing. On November 26, 1990, an Order of Dismissal of the re-filed case

without prejudice by reason of this appeal was entered by Judge Rigrup (Addendum).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. This dismissal is governed by Rule 4-103 of the Rules of Judicial Administration.
- II. The case law interpreting Rule 41 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for failure to prosecute is of some guidance in understanding the limits of rule 4-103.
- III. The language of Rule 4-103 provides for dismissal "absent a showing of good cause" if the case has been inactive for 180 days.

ARGUMENT

I.

MEADOW FRESH FARMS WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN THE
LOWER COURT FAILED TO SET ASIDE THE DISMISSAL UNDER RULE 4-103 OF THE
RULES OF JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION

The policy of Rule 4-103 as stated in the rule is:

To establish a procedure which allows the trial courts to manage civil case processing.

To reduce the time between case filing and disposition.

The rule itself provides:

(1) If a default judgement has not been entered by the plaintiff within 60 days of the availability of default and absent a showing of good cause, the court shall dismiss the case without prejudice for lack of prosecution.

(2) If a certificate of readiness for trial has not been served and filed within 180 days of the filing date and absent a showing of good cause, the court shall dismiss the case without prejudice for lack of prosecution.
(Amended effective January 15, 1990).

The Government defendants/respondents argued before the trial court that Meadow Fresh

Farm's Motion to Set Aside was governed by the law interpreting Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for setting aside default judgements. Meadow Fresh Farms' Motion to Set Aside is distinguished from those cases in that the order of dismissal complained of was not made pursuant to a motion of any of the defendants, but was brought by the court on its own motion pursuant to the streamlining authority and the policy of the District Courts under Rule 4-103 of the Rules of Judicial Administration of the Courts.

This difference is significant for at least 3 reasons, (1) the dismissal under Rule 4-103 is understood to be without prejudice, (2) is for the purpose of managing the court calendar and reducing the time between filing and disposition and (3) is brought by the court on its own motion. In this case none of the government defendants/respondents made a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute, but rather only appeared in response to the order to show cause issued by the court. It is not correct to apply the legal standard and burden of proof for setting aside a default judgement to this case.

Examining the application of Rule 4-103 to this case, the Order of Dismissal did not have the effect of managing the case and expediting its resolution in accordance with the requirements of due process. Meadow Fresh Farms was not provided adequate notice of the order to show cause hearing, where its counsel had withdrawn and the notices of the order to show cause hearing were sent to Judge Harris' former office after his withdrawal. Under Rule 5(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the court's service on former counsel was therefore improper, and was required to be sent directly to Meadow Fresh Farms. As a consequence, Meadow Fresh Farms was not provided adequate notice of the order to show cause proceedings and therefore was denied due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment, Section 1 of the Constitution of the

United States, and Article I, Section 7 of the Constitution of Utah; see the long standing rulings of the Utah Supreme Court with respect to notice requirements in Naisbitt v. Herrick, 76 U. 575, 290 P. 950 (1930), and Christiansen v. Harris, 109 U. 1, 163 P. 2d 314 (1945). These cases require that notice be sent to the party at the inauguration and purpose of the inquiry and contain the time at which such party should appear. Therefore, the entry of the judgment of dismissal against Meadow Fresh Farms, where it was not properly served with notice of the hearing and therefore failed to appear to oppose the default was a denial of due process of law. Also see Blyth & Fargo Co. vs. Swenson, 15 U. 345, 49 P. 1027(1897); and Parry vs. Bonneville Irr. Dist., 71 U. 575, 290 P. 950 (1930), where the court stated that it is elementary that there can be no judicial action affecting vested rights that is not based upon some process or notice whereby the interested parties are brought within the jurisdiction of the judicial tribunal about to render judgment.

Meadow Fresh Farms quickly sought and retained new counsel and sought to set aside the default. However, the Lower Court refused to set aside the dismissal and did not follow the intent of the rule, or the "due process" requirements. Rather, the Lower Court abused its discretion and applied said rule in an overly harsh manner, delaying and prejudicing the result.

II.

THE CASE LAW INTERPRETING RULE 41 OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE FOR FAILURE TO PROSECUTE IS OF SOME GUIDANCE IN UNDERSTANDING THE LIMITS OF RULE 4-103 OF THE RULES OF JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION.

The factors considered under Rule 41 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure are most clearly set out in Westinghouse Electric Supply Company v. Paul W. Larsen Contractor, 544 P.2d 876 (Utah 1975). The court in reversing an order of dismissal indicated that the

following factors should be considered in determining whether there is a justifiable excuse to explain delays in a prosecution of an action.

1. The conduct of both parties.
2. The opportunity each has had to move the case forward.
3. What difficulty or prejudice may have been caused to the other side by any delay.
4. "And for most importantly whether injustice may result from the dismissal."
Ibid at 879.

Assuming this were a motion to dismiss brought by party and applying these factors to this case, it is clear that both parties have been active in this matter during the last nine months and that neither party has been prejudiced during this period. If this court were to allow the order of dismissal to stand significant injustice would occur. The prior rulings of this court concerning the statute of limitations and other issues would need to be re-decided at considerable expense and delay to all parties.

In addition, the government defendants/respondents have opposed the re-filing of this action under their interpretation of Sec. 78-12-40, U.C.A., 1953, as amended. by arguing that the protection of this statute allows only one re-filing of a case dismissed other than on the merits. If they are successful, then the Lower Court's dismissal will have been with prejudice and Meadow Fresh Farms will have been denied the right to have its case heard upon the merits. Even if Meadow Fresh Farms is allowed to re-file, the effect of the Lower Court's ruling is not an efficient management and reduction of the time between filing and disposition as required by the rule policy.

The Utah Court has often determined that there was an abuse of discretion when a case was dismissed for lack of diligence in prosecuting claims when the dismissal was with prejudice. See for example Utah Oil Company v. Harris, 565 P.2d 1135 (Utah 1977), Johnson v. Firebrand Inc., 571 P.2d 1368 (Utah 1977). In Utah Oil, supra there was a 16 month lapse of action and in Johnson v. Firebrand, supra there was a four year lapse of activity and in both cases the lack of diligence was held not to be a basis for dismissal with prejudice.

III.

SUFFICIENT CAUSE WAS SHOWN UNDER RULE 4-103 TO SET ASIDE THE DISMISSAL OF MEADOW FRESH FARMS' CAUSES OF ACTION.

Rule 4-103 provides for dismissal "absent a showing of good cause" if the case has been inactive 180 days. Since 180 days is significantly less than four years, the "good cause" required under Rule 4-103 of the Rules of Judicial Administration should not be as strict as required under Rule 41 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. In fact, "good cause" should be liberally construed so as to effect the policy of managing case load by urging and pushing clients or counsel to continue with the case. Only in extreme cases should a willing litigant taking reasonable steps be stopped from going forward by Rule 4-103 of the Rules of Judicial Administration.

In this particular case the Meadow Fresh Farms had contacted a law firm and believed that it was represented by by said firm and, in fact, believed that the case was proceeding towards trial. No actual notice of the Order to Show Cause Hearing was provided to Meadow Fresh Farms. There was no reason for Meadow Fresh Farms to be apprised in fact or by implication that it could somehow lose its rights to a trial on the merits due to the inaction of his counsel. Thus,

Meadow Fresh Farms was not provided the requisite notice that would justify the entry of a final Order of Dismissal.

Further, Meadow Fresh Farms timely obtained new counsel, given the complexities of the case which was substantially developed for a trial. The additional time now required to prosecute the case on appeal, because of the Lower Court's harsh application of a calendaring administrative rule is inexcusable. It was improper for the Lower Court to treat Meadow Fresh Farms Motion to set aside the calendaring dismissal pursuant to Rule 4-103 of the Rules of Judicial Administration in the same manner as setting aside under Rule 41 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure a default entered for failure to answer a Complaint. The Lower Court therefore abused its discretion in failing to set aside the Rule 4-103 dismissal, and the case should be remanded for trial on the merits.

IV.

**IF THE LOWER COURT'S DISMISSAL WITHOUT PREJUDICE IS NOT
SET ASIDE, LEAVE TO RE-FILE UNDER SEC. 78-12-40, U.C.A., 1953, AS AMENDED,
SHOULD BE GRANTED**

Alternatively, if the Appellate Court does not reverse the Lower Court's Rule 4-103 dismissal, the Appellate Court is requested to allow Meadow Fresh Farms the right to re-file the case under Sec. 78-12-40, U.C.A., 1953, as amended. Even though the Lower Court specifically dismissed Meadow Fresh Farms' action without prejudice, government defendants/respondents have taken the position that only one re-filing is allowed under Sec. 78-012-40, U.C.A., 1953, as amended, citing case law from other jurisdictions. Pending resolution of this issue on appeal, the Honorable Kenneth R. Rigtrup has dismissed Meadow Fresh Farm's re-filing in Meadow

Fresh Farms, Inc. vs. Utah State University, et al., in Civil No. 900902988CV without prejudice by reason of this appeal. Section 78-12-40 U.C.A., 1953, as amended, reads:

78-12-40. Effect of failure of action not on merits.

If any action is commenced within due time and a judgement thereon for the plaintiff is reversed, or if the plaintiff fails in such action or upon a cause of action otherwise than upon the merits, and the time limited either by law or contract for commencing the same shall have expired, the plaintiff, or if he dies and the cause of action survives, his representatives, may commence a new action within one year after the reversal or failure.

There is nothing in the language of Sec. 78-12-40, U.C.A., 1953, as amended, which precludes a second re-filing where a case has not been decided on the merits. The cases cited by government defendants/respondents and discussed in American Law Reports, 65 2d 642, all address different statutes, and do not deal with calendar streamlining dismissals under rules similar to Rule 4-103 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration. Nor does it make any sense to limit the number of re-filings; particularly where trials are frequently bifurcated and acted upon separately on multiple appeals. It is therefore Meadow Fresh Farms position that under the due process requirements of the U.S. and Utah Constitutions, a re-filing should be allowed where there has been a calendaring dismissal under Rule 4-103 of the Rules of Judicial Administration. Otherwise, Meadow Fresh Farms has been denied due process of law as outlined above.

If the Appellate Court does not reverse and remand the case for trial now that the summary judgment dismissal motions have been argued and successfully resisted by Meadow Fresh Farms, the Appellate Court is respectfully requested to allow the case to be re-filed for a trial on the merits.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Appellate Court is petitioned to reverse the Lower Court's Order of Dismissal under Rule 4-103 of the Rules of Judicial Administration, and remand the case for trial, or alternatively grant leave for Meadow Fresh Farms to re-file the

case under Sec. 78-12-40, U.C.A., 1953, as amended.