1990

Meadow Fresh Farms, Inc. v. Utah State University
Department of Agriculture and Applied Science,
State of Utah Department of Health, Division of
Family Health Services, Utah State Department of
Agriculture, Von T. Mendenhall, Archie Hurst,
Claudia Clark, Nancy G. Robinette, Barbara Prater
and John/Jane Does 1 through 20 : Brief of

Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiff claims the lower court abused its discretion in refusing to set aside the order of dismissal for failure to prosecute. Plaintiff argues that its failure to communicate with counsel for almost a year constitutes "excusable neglect" under Rule 60(b)(1). In contrast, Utah case law expressly rejects the argument that a plaintiff's failure to communicate with counsel constitutes excusable neglect sufficient to set aside an order of dismissal for failure to prosecute. In light of the fact that plaintiff's cause of action is nearly a decade old, has been lingering in the judicial system for more than seven years, was previously dismissed for lack of prosecution, and was affirmed on appeal as appropriately dismissed, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to set aside the order of dismissal for failure to prosecute.

Plaintiff also requests this Court to decide whether he may refile his cause of action under Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-40 (1987), but only if this Court affirms the lower court's

dismissal. Because plaintiff did not raise the issue in the lower court, this Court should not consider this issue raised for the first time on appeal. In any event, plaintiff essentially requests this Court to issue an advisory opinion, a result which is against judicial policy.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO SET ASIDE THE DISMISSAL FOR FAILURE TO PROSECUTE

Plaintiff contends that the lower court erred in refusing to set aside the order of dismissal for failure to prosecute. He asserts that "excusable neglect" existed justifying from relief from the final judgment of dismissal. He requests this Court to reverse the lower court's dismissal and remand this case for trial. Plaintiff's claim should be rejected.

Rule 60(b), Utah Rules Civil Procedure, provides that a trial court may relieve a party from a final judgment if "excusable neglect" is established. The Utah Supreme Court defines "'excusable neglect' as the exercise of 'due diligence' by a reasonably prudent person under similar circumstances." Mini Spas, Inc. v. Industrial Com'n of Utah, 733 P.2d 130, 132 (Utah 1987). While the Court has explained that a trial court should be generally indulgent toward setting a judgment aside

where there is reasonable justification or excuse, the mere fact that some basis may exist to set aside the default "does not require the conclusion that the court abused its discretion in refusing to do so when facts and circumstances support the refusal." Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92, 92 (Utah 1986). More specifically, the Court has ruled that where a party has been negligent by not communicating with his attorney, the party may not claim his attorney's neglect in failing to notify him of proceedings as grounds for setting aside a default judgment. Gardiner & Gardiner Bldrs. v. Swapp, 656 P.2d 429, 430 (Utah 1982). See also Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, 30 Utah 2d 65, 513 P.2d 429, 431 (1973).

In the present case, plaintiff contended in the lower court that he satisfied the conditions of Rule 60(b) due to "excusable neglect on behalf of the defendant and/or plaintiff or plaintiff's counsel and failure in communications which resulted in confusion as to whether counsel had withdrawn from representation or not." (R. 186-87). This explanation, however, was rejected by Judge Frederick as insufficient to set aside the dismissal. Reviewing plaintiff's conduct in this case, it is readily apparent that Judge Frederick was correct in concluding that plaintiff's dilatory conduct was inexcusable.

The original complaint in this action was filed on April 25, 1983, more than seven years prior to Judge Frederick's

dismissal. Approximately fifteen months after the original filing, plaintiff's original counsel of record withdrew from the case (R. 364). The reason stated for the withdrawal was that plaintiff had recently reorganized and had retained in-house counsel in the process (Id.). Also, plaintiff had never paid any of the bills that the original law firm had submitted (Id.). On August 29, 1985, an order to show cause was issued notifying plaintiff that its action was in jeopardy and that a hearing would be held on September 27, 1985 (R. 366). On the day of the hearing, plaintiff and its counsel failed to appear and the case was dismissed (Id.).

Sixteen months thereafter, on January 26, 1987, plaintiff filed a notice of appearance of counsel and request for scheduling conference (R. 370). This occurred more than two and a half years after plaintiff's original counsel had withdrawn. On the same day, plaintiff filed a motion to vacate the minute entry dismissing its case (R. 372). On March 13, 1987, Judge Scott Daniels issued an order denying plaintiff's motion to vacate (R. 378). Plaintiff appealed the order to the Utah Supreme Court which affirmed, but granted plaintiff one year in which to refile its action.

Ten months later, on January 6, 1988, plaintiff filed its Amended Complaint (R. 385). After two more years of inactivity by plaintiff, the lower court on December 5, 1989,

issued an order to show cause indicating that "failure to appear will be considered acquiescence in entry of an order of dismissal." (R. 431). Plaintiff and its counsel once again failed to appear at the order to show cause hearing and the action was dismissed on January 18, 1990 (R. 434) (See Addendum "B"; Order).

On March 15, 1990, plaintiff moved to set aside the dismissal, asking the lower court to excuse his dilatory behavior (R. 183-90). He contended that the failure to appear at the order to show cause hearing was due to his and his counsel's confusion as to whether or not he was indeed represented by counsel. (Id.) This contention was not, however, supported by the record. Although it was correct that attorney B. H. Harris withdrew from the case on December 14, 1988, he did so only on his own behalf due to his appointment as a judge in the First Circuit Court (R. 171). Had plaintiff contacted his attorney over the next eleven months leading up to the lower court's order to show cause, any confusion would easily have been remedied.

Plaintiff's alleged confusion did not relieve it of its duty to diligently prosecute its case. The reasoning of the Utah Supreme Court in the case of Wilson v. Lambert, 613 P.2d 765 (Utah 1980) is helpful. In Wilson, the plaintiffs contended that they should be relieved from the lower court's dismissal for failure to prosecute because their predecessor in interest, Mr.

Baldwin, had unknowingly been without counsel when the action was dismissed. In response, the Wilson Court stated: "It is . . . immaterial that Plaintiff's predecessor was unwittingly without counsel for a time before his death. Mr. Baldwin was not relieved of his duty to pursue his action by any failure of his attorney to act - the matter should have been investigated within a reasonable time." Wilson, 613 P.2d at 768.

Likewise, plaintiff was not relieved of its duty to diligently prosecute this action due to any confusion as to whether or not it was represented by counsel. Just as when plaintiff's first action was dismissed, it was the district court's own motion that renewed plaintiff's interest in the case. Had the Court not moved sua sponte to dismiss, this case would likely have remained idle.

Additionally, defendants have been prejudiced by plaintiff's delay in prosecuting this action. Since the original filing of this action more than seven years ago, defendants have undergone a considerable change of circumstances. None of the three named individuals represented by the Attorney General's Office are still employed with the State agencies against whom this lawsuit was filed (R. 323). One of the three is still employed by the State, but in a different agency and in an entirely different capacity (Id.). Of the other two, one has moved to Texas, and the other to the State of Washington (Id.).

Neither of these two individuals have any continuing employer/employee relations with the State of Utah. The changes of occupation and domicile have created difficulties and prejudice for each of the named defendants and the agencies involved in the lawsuit.

There are numerous reasons why a reinstatement of this case would be a continuing burden on the parties involved. First, reinstating the lawsuit would create a burden on the individual defendants who would have to interrupt their personal and business lives to travel to Utah in order to defend their actions which occurred nearly a decade ago. Second, it would be an undue burden on the agencies involved. Because none of the individual defendants are currently employed by the defendant agencies, other agency employees would be required to become familiar with the facts and circumstances surrounding this action. These agency employees would have the difficulty of trying to familiarize themselves with a matter that occurred almost a decade ago. Lastly, after lingering in the court system for more than seven years, witnesses may no longer be available for trial, and if available, may be unable to recall information that is vital in defending this action.

In sum, plaintiff has been afforded ample opportunity to prosecute this case. Plaintiff, however, has abused the opportunity. After seven years of delay and two dismissals for

lack of prosecution, plaintiff requests the judicial system to condone his behavior by allowing him a third chance. In light of plaintiff's dilatory behavior, Judge Frederick's ruling should not be considered an abuse of discretion.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF CANNOT RAISE ISSUES FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

On appeal, plaintiff raises the issue of whether it may, for a second time, utilize the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-40 (1987) which allows a plaintiff to refile an action within one year after the reversal or failure of a cause of action other than upon the merits. However, because this issue was not raised in the lower court, it should not be considered on appeal.

Utah courts have long held that appellate issues must be first raised in the trial court. In James v. Preston, 746 P.2d 799 (Utah App. 1987), this Court explained that "matters not raised in the pleading nor put in issue at the trial level may not be raised for the first time on appeal." Id. at 801.

In the instant case, the issue of the legality of a second refiling was not raised below and the lower court had no "opportunity to make findings of fact or conclusions of law." James, 746 P.2d at 801. Admittedly, plaintiff did raise the issue in the subsequent action filed before Judge Rigtrup. However, Judge Rigtrup's dismissal was not based on that issue

and no appeal was taken. Had plaintiff desired a ruling on the refiling statute, he could have raised the issue before Judge Frederick in his motion to set aside the judgment. Plaintiff should not be permitted to seek reversal of Judge Frederick's ruling on the basis of a legal argument not presented below.


In reality, plaintiff's argument is premature. If this Court reverses Judge Frederick's dismissal order, the issue will be moot. If this Court affirms Judge Frederick's ruling and plaintiff refiles its cause of action, the issue can then be argued and decided. In that Utah has a longstanding judicial policy avoiding advisory opinions, plaintiff's premature claim should not be considered in this appeal. See Reynolds v. Reynolds, 788 P.2d 1044, 1045 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, defendants respectfully request this Court to affirm the lower court's denial of plaintiff's motion to set aside the order of dismissal.